# UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

5-20-2009

# Duncan v. State Bd. of Accountancy Appellant's Brief Dckt. 35804

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE

# A. NATURE OF THE CASE

The Plaintiff-Appellant (hereafter "Duncan"), has appealed the *Memorandum Opinion and Order on Motion to Dismiss and Petition for Judicial Review* entered by District Court Judge Kerrick on September 3, 2008. Said court affirmed the *Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Final Order* entered by the Defendant-Respondent Idaho State Board of Accountancy on August 16, 2007, in which the Idaho State Board of Accountancy sanctioned Duncan for violating AICPA Rule 102.3.

COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS AND STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

A Verified Complaint was filed against Duncan with the Idaho State Board of Accountancy (hereafter "Board") on September 22, 2006. On July 18, 2007 a hearing was held before a Hearing Body of the Board (hereafter "Hearing Body") regarding said Complaint. At the hearing, the Board alleged that Duncan violated Rule 102.03 of the AICPA Code of Professional Conduct.

The following undisputed and uncontroverted facts are pertinent to this Appeal:

Duncan has been licensed in the State of Idaho as a CPA since 1986.

Duncan has never had a complaint filed against him previously nor has he ever been disciplined for professional misconduct.

Beginning in 2001, Duncan's firm prepared the tax returns for the Complainant and his then wife Evelyn. Duncan never gave the Complaint and Evelyn financial advise.

-1-

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

B.

1	Duncan was the supervising CPA for the preparation of the return, not the individual who					
2	actually prepared the 2003 tax return.					
3	As of April 28, 2004, the 2003 tax return was substantially completed. No work was done					
4	on the return until August 11, 2004 (a second extension was filed on that date).					
, 5	Sometime in the first part of May of 2004, Evelyn called Duncan requesting a referral to ar					
6	attorney who could handle a divorce for her.					
7						
8 9	Sometime later in May or early June of 2004, Duncan and Evelyn developed a personal					
10	relationship.					
11	On June 29, 2004, Evelyn filed for divorce against the Complainant.					
12	Both parties were represented in the divorce by attorneys.					
13	On August 11, 2004, the decree of divorce was entered.					
14	On August 11, 2004, a second extension was filed by Duncan's firm for the Complainant and					
15	Evelyn's 2003 tax return.					
16	On August 13, 2004, Duncan informed the Complainant that he would no longer be					
17	performing his accounting services.					
18	On August 18, 2004, Complainant acknowledged that he was aware of the relationship					
19	between Duncan and Evelyn.					
20	Sometime after the decree of divorce was entered, Evelyn requested that the 2003 tax return					
21 22						
23	be completed.					
24	APPELLANT'S BRIEF -2-					
25	AFFELLANT 5 BRIEF -2-					
26						
	LAW OFFICES OF CLARK AND FEENEY LEWISTON, IDAHO 83501					

Pursuant to instructions, the 2003 tax return was completed with the Complainant's attorney as the taxpayer's address (with the exception of the extension filed on August 11, 2004, no work had been performed on said return since April 28, 2004).

On or around September 14, 2004, the Claimant either picked up or had delivered the 2003 tax return.

Both Evelyn and the Complainant signed the 2003 tax return.

The 2003 tax return was filed by Evelyn and the Complainant.

The Complaint received and kept the refund that he and Evelyn received as a result of the filed 2003 tax return.

There has not been any negative allegations regarding the 2003 tax return prepared by Duncan's firm.

On August 16, 2007, the Hearing Body issued its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Final Order. The Hearing Body made the following factual findings:

- Duncan did not make a disclosure to the Complainant-spouse that he had a conflict of interest that prevented him from continuing to represent both parties in tax preparation. He did not seek the consent of either party to continue such representation. Duncan stated that tax preparation was completed in a client neutral manner.

Duncan continued to retain responsibility for the filing of joint tax returns for both clients.

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

1	•	Complainant was aware of the personal relationship that was established between Duncan
2	-	and Evelyn and was antagonistic toward both Duncan and Evelyn.
3		AICPA Rule 102.03 does not create an exception from the duty to disclose a conflict of
4		interest and seek consent to continuation of the professional services relationship for the
5 6		situation in which the client is aware of the relationship.
7	(R. pp	11-12).
8		The Hearing Body then made the following conclusions of law:
9		If an individual licensed by the Board of Accountancy establishes a personal intimate
10		relationship with one spouse and a relationship of antagonism with the other spouse, one may
11		reasonably view the relationships to impair the member's objectivity.
12	•	If an individual licensed by the Board of Accountancy believes the professional service can
13 14		be performed with objectivity, and the relationship is disclosed to the client(s) and consent
15		of the client(s) is obtained, AICPA 102.3 does not prohibit the performance of the
16		professional service.
17	•	Duncan had a duty to terminate the professional relationship or to make disclosure of a
18		conflict of interest to both clients due to the divorce proceedings and finalization of the
19		divorce or the personal relationship that was established between Duncan and one client.
20		Duncan did not make such required disclosures and did not seek the consent of either client
21		
22 23		prior to continuation of the professional services relationship.
24		LANT'S BRIEF -4-
25	MLLTH	

26

Duncan violated the Idaho Accountancy Act, Idaho Code § 54-219(1)(d), specifically Idaho Accountancy Rule 004.01 by not making the disclosures or seeking/receiving the consent(s) required by AICPA 102.3.

(R. pp. 12-13).

Subsequently Duncan filed a timely *Petition for Judicial Review*. On September 3, 2008, the District Court affirmed the *Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Final Order* entered by the Board on August 16, 2007, in which the Board sanctioned Duncan for violating AICPA Rule 102.3.

# **ISSUE PRESENTED ON APPEAL**

Did the District Court err in not overturning the Idaho State Board of Accountancy's decision
that the Appellant violated the Idaho Accountancy Act, specifically Idaho Accountancy Rule 004.01,
by not making the disclosures or seeking/receiving the consent(s) required by AICPA 102.3, when:
(a) AICPA 102.3 is silent about who needs to make a disclosure of a relationship and how the disclosure of that relationship is to be made and the uncontrovertable evidence in the record established that the Complainant was aware of the relationship requiring disclosure prior to the finalization of the tax return; and

(b) AICPA 102.3 is silent about how consent must be obtained and the uncontrovertable evidence in the record established that all parties consented to the Appellant continuing to provided professional services, including the Complainant who got a

-5-

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

copy of final tax return, signed the final tax return, filed the final tax return, kept the refund, and never alleged that the professional services provided by the Appellant where in any way suspect.

#### ARGUMENT

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN NOT OVERTURNING THE BOARD'S DECISION THAT DUNCAN VIOLATED AICPA 102.3 BY ERRONEOUSLY GIVING THE BOARD'S UNREASONABLE CONSTRUCTION OF AICPA 102.3 WEIGHT BY AFFIRMING A DECISION THAT IS NOT BASED ON SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD AND IS ARBITRARY, CAPRICIOUS, OR AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION BASED ON THE BOARD'S UNREASONABLE CONSTRUCTION OF AICPA 102.3.

# A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Judicial review of an agency action is governed by the Idaho Administrative Procedure Act. See I.C. § 67-5270. A reviewing court must overturn the agency's decision if it determines that the agency's findings, inferences, conclusions or decisions are: in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions; (a) in excess of statutory authority of the agency; (b) made upon unlawful procedure; (c) not supported by substantial evidence on the record as a whole; or (d) arbitrary, capricious, or an abuse of discretion. (e) See I.C. § 67-5279. The reviewing court may not substitute its judgment for that of the agency as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact. See I.C. § 67-5279. When a District Court acts APPELLANT'S BRIEF -6-

in its appellate capacity under the APA, the Supreme Court reviews the agency record independently of the District Court's decision. Sons & Daughters of Idaho, Inc. v. Idaho Lottery Comm'n, 144 Idaho 23, 26,156 P.3d 524, 527 (2007).

A reviewing must give considerable weight to an agency's construction of a statute or administrative rule or regulation **only if** the agency's interpretation is reasonable. *See Preston v. Idaho State Tax Comm'n*, 131 Idaho 502, 504, 960 P.2d 185, 187 (1998) (Emphasis added.) Administrative regulations are subject to the same principles of statutory construction as statutes. *Mason v. Donnelly Club*, 135 Idaho 581, 586, 21 P.3d 903, 908 (2001). Interpretation of such a rule should begin, therefore, with an examination of the literal words of the rule. *Id.* at 586, 21 P.3d at 908. The language of the rule, like the language of a statute, should be given its plain, obvious and rational meaning. *Id.* at 586, 21 P.3d at 908.

B. THE HEARING BODY UNREASONABLY CONSTRUES THE REQUIREMENTS OF AICPA 102.3 AND THUS ITS INTERPRETATION SHOULD BE GIVEN NO WEIGHT. On a preliminary matter, the underlying basis for this appeal is that the Hearing Body unreasonably constructs AICPA 102.3 in its application to this matter. The language of AICPA 102.3 is very clear and straightforward on what needs to be done if professional services are to be continued. Rule 102.03 of the AICPA states in pertinent that:

A conflict of interest may occur if a member performs a professional service for a client or employer and the member or his firm has a relationship with another person, entity, product, or service that could, in the member's professional judgment, be viewed by the client, employer, or other appropriate parties as impairing the

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

member's objectivity. If the member believes that the professional service can be performed with objectivity, and the relationship is disclosed to and consent is obtained from such client, employer, or other appropriate parties, the rule shall not operate to prohibit the performance of the professional service. When making the disclosure, the member should consider Rule 301.

(Emphasis added.) What needs to be done if professional services are to be continued is that (1) the relationship needs to be disclosed, and (2) that consent be obtained. What is critical to note is that AICPA 102.3 is silent about who needs to disclose the relationship, that AICPA 102.3 is silent about how the disclosure of the relationship needs to be made, i.e. whether it can be made orally or must be in writing, and is silent on how consent must be obtained. As the Court knows, not only can consent can be express as well as implied, there is no legal or practical difference between the two. Nevertheless, AICPA 102.3 is silent about how disclosure and consent is to be made. The drafters of AICPA 102.3 obviously had every opportunity to address how disclosure and consent is to be made but opted to be silent. As such, one can only reasonably conclude that the drafters were only concerned with having disclosure and consent, and were not concerned with how disclosure and consent were obtained. The language of the rule must be given its plain, obvious and rational meaning.

In this matter, the Hearing Body concluded that Duncan himself had a duty to terminate the professional relationship or that Duncan himself had a duty to make disclosure of a conflict of interest to both clients due to the divorce proceedings and finalization of the divorce or that Duncan himself had a duty to make a disclosure of the personal relationship that was established between

-8-

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

Duncan and one client. The language of AICPA 102.3 does not require that Duncan himself was required to disclose the relationship and is silent about how consent is to be obtained. The Hearing Body ignores the plain language of AICPA 102.3 and adds additional requirements that are not found in the rule. Construction of AICPA 102.3 dictates that the language of the rule must be given its plain, obvious and rational meaning. The Hearing Body adds requirements to the rule that are not found in the clear and unambiguous language of the rule and thus its construction of AICPA 102.3 is unreasonable and should be given no weight. The District Court erred in giving the Hearing Body's construction of AICPA 102.3 weight in affirming the Hearing Body's decision.

The Hearing Body concluded that Duncan did not make such required disclosures and did not seek the consent of either client prior to continuation of the professional services relationship. Based on these conclusions, the Hearing Body ruled that Duncan violated AICPA 102.3. The Hearing Body unreasonably construed the requirements of AICPA 102.3 and ignored the uncontradicted facts of this case which establish that Duncan complied with the requirements of AICPA 102.3.

C.

THE RELATIONSHIPS WERE PROPERLY DISCLOSED IN THIS MATTER.

The Hearing Body held that Duncan had the duty to terminate the professional relationship or to make a disclosure of a conflict of interest to both clients due to the divorce proceeding and finalization of the divorce. It is important to note that the Hearing Body cites to the following comment of AICPA 102.3 in its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Final Order:

...9...

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

A member has provided tax or personal financial planning (PTP) service for a married couple who are undergoing a divorce, and the member has been asked to provide the services for both parties during the divorce proceedings.

Contrary to the Hearing Body's holding, as set forth above, AICPA 102.3 does not require that a conflict of interest be disclosed, AICPA 102.3 requires only that the relationship be disclosed. With regards to the filing and ultimate divorce of the Complainant and Evelyn in this matter, this relationship obviously had been disclosed. The Complainant and Evelyn knew that they were in divorce proceedings. Furthermore, the comment to AICPA 102.3 that the Hearing Body relies upon does not even apply to this matter. The comment addresses tax or personal financial planning service, not tax preparation. There is a significant difference between tax preparation, which is what Duncan's firm did, and tax or personal financial planning. The tax preparation that occurred in this case was limited to the events and consequences that occurred in the calendar year of 2002. Events and consequences that cannot be changed. The fact that the Complainant and Evelyn were undergoing a divorce in 2003 has no bearing on the tax events that occurred in 2002. The return that Duncan's firm prepared would have been prepared exactly the same way regardless of whether the Complainant and Evelyn were happily married or going through a divorce. Finally Duncan never gave the Complainant and Evelyn financial or tax planning advice, Duncan's firm merely provided tax preparation services.

Another critical point is that the return was substantially completed before Evelyn even contacted Duncan about a referral to an attorney for a divorce. Additionally, no substantive work

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

-10-

1

was done on the return during the time period that the Evelyn contacted Duncan about a referral until the divorce was final between the Complainant and Evelyn. While an extension was filed on the day that the decree was entered, this event has no substantive effect on the return, in fact, failing to file an extension arguably would have been professional malpractice by the Duncan's firm.

The Hearing Body's conclusion that the Petitioner should have disclosed the conflict of interest due to the divorce proceedings is unreasonable. AICPA 102.3 only requires that the relationship be disclosed, and in this case the parties obviously knew they were getting a divorce. Furthermore, AICPA 102.3 does not even apply to tax preparation in this case. The return would have been prepared exactly the same regardless of the relationship status between the Complainant and Evelyn. Finally, no work was done on the return from the time that Duncan learned about the possibility of a divorce until the divorce was final. It is ridiculous to sanction a professional for a time period in which he was not even performing services.

The Hearing Body also held that Duncan had the duty to terminate the professional relationship or to make a disclosure of a conflict of interest to both clients due to the personal relationship that was established between Duncan and one client. AICPA 102.3 does not require that a conflict of interest be disclosed. AICPA quite clearly states that the only thing that needs to be disclosed is the relationship itself - not the conflict of interest. AICPA 102.3 is silent about who needs to disclose the relationship, AICPA 102.3 is silent about how the disclosure of the relationship needs to be made, i.e. whether it can be made orally or must be in writing. The facts of this case

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

establish that the Complainant acknowledged that he knew about the relationship between Duncan and Evelyn before the Complaint received the return, knew about the relationship before he signed the return, knew about the relationship before he mailed the return, and knew about the relationship before he accepted the refund from the return. The Hearing Body interprets that AICPA 102.3 requires Duncan himself to disclose the relationship. AICPA 102.3 makes no such requirement. The only requirement is that the relationship be disclosed and in this case the Complainant knew about the relationship between Duncan and Evelyn and thus the language of AICPA 102.3 was satisfied.

The Hearing Body made a factual finding that AICPA 102.03 does not create an exception from the duty to disclose a conflict of interest and seek consent to continuation of the professional services relationship for the situation in which the client is aware of the relationship. Such a "finding" is not actually a factual finding but a conclusion of law, and regardless is unreasonable. AICPA 102.3 only requires that the relationship be disclosed and is silent about who must disclose the relationship. In this case the Complainant expressly acknowledged that he knew about the relation prior to his receipt of the tax return and as such, the Hearing Body's holding that the Petitioner violated AICPA 102.3 is contrary to the clear and unambiguous language of the rule and ignores the uncontradicted facts in this matter. The District Court erred in giving the Hearing Body's construction of AICPA 102.3 weight in affirming the Hearing Body's decision which was not supported by substantial evidence in the record and based on its unreasonable construction of AICPA 102.3 was arbitrary, capricious, or an abuse of discretion.

-12-

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

# D. BOTH CLIENTS CONSENTED TO THE CONTINUATION OF THE PROFESSIONAL SERVICE RELATIONSHIP.

To support its holding that Duncan violated AICPA 102.3, the Hearing Body determined that Duncan did not seek the consent of the Complainant and Evelyn to continue offering professional services. Again AICPA 102.3 is silent about how consent must be obtained and the facts of this case establish that both parties consented to Duncan's firm preparing the tax return.

As set forth above, disclosure of any relationship was satisfied in accordance to AICPA 102.3. Not only was any relationship properly disclosed, consent was obtained after the disclosure. Obviously the Complainant and Evelyn knew they were going through a divorce and the Complaint knew about the relationship between Duncan and Evelyn before he received the return. After the divorce was final, Evelyn requested that the return be completed - such a request clearly includes consent. With regards to the Complainant, he either picked up or had delivered the return after the divorce was final and after he knew about the relationship between Duncan and Evelyn. After all of this he got the return, signed it, filed it, and kept the refund. There is no way that the Complainant would have done any of this had he not consented to Duncan's firm completing the return.

It is important to note that the Complainant was represented by an attorney during the divorce. In fact, after the divorce was final, the Complainant directed that the tax payer's address on the return be changed to his attorney's address. If the Complainant did not consent to Duncan's firm preparing the return, he could have chosen not to get the return, not to sign the return, not to file

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

-13-

the return, not to keep the refund, and not have the address changed to his attorney's address. The Complainant not only consented to Duncan's firm's services, he accepted the benefits of said services.

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