# UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

6-17-2009

# Duncan v. State Bd. of Accountancy Respondent's Brief Dckt. 35804

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

Relevant to Mr. Duncan's violation of Rule 102.3, the Board specifically found in

the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Final Order that his action violated the Rule as

follows (Mr. Duncan is referred to in these findings as the "Respondent"):

2. Respondent had prepared taxes for Complainant and his wife Evelyn since 2001. Respondent established a personal relationship with Evelyn in May 2004, but did not make a disclosure to the Complainant-spouse that he had a conflict of interest that prevented him from continuing to represent both parties in tax preparation. He did not seek the consent of either party to continue such representation. Respondent stated that tax preparation was completed in a client neutral manner.

3. Respondent continued to retain responsibility for the filing of joint tax returns for both clients.

4. Complainant was aware of the personal relationship that was established between Respondent and Evelyn and was antagonistic toward both Respondent and Evelyn.

6. AICPA Rule 102.03 does not create an exception from the duty to disclose a conflict of interest and seek consent to continuation of the professional services relationship for the situation in which the client is aware of the relationship.

\* \* \*

2. Any single act prohibited in the Idaho Accountancy Act shall be sufficient to justify a suspension, revocation, fine, administrative penalty, restriction, reprimand, injunction, restraining order, conviction, or any other remedy authorized in by the Idaho Accountancy Act. Evidence of a general course of conduct shall not be required.

3. If an individual licensed by the Board of Accountancy establishes a personal intimate relationship with one spouse and a relationship of antagonism with the other spouse, one may reasonably view the relationships to impair the member's objectivity.

4. If an individual licensed by the Board of Accountancy believes the professional service can be performed with objectivity, and the relationship is disclosed to the client(s) and consent of the client(s) is obtained, AICPA 102.3 does not prohibit the performance of the professional service.

5. Respondent had a duty to terminate the professional relationship or to make disclosure of a conflict of interest to both clients due to the divorce proceedings and finalization of the divorce or the personal relationship that was established between the Respondent and one client. Respondent did not make such required disclosures and did not seek the consent of either client prior to continuation of the professional services relationship.

6. Respondent violated the Idaho Accountancy Act, Idaho Code §§ 54-219(1)(d), specifically Idaho Accountancy

Rule 004.01 by not making the disclosures or seeking/receiving the consent(s) required by AICPA 102-3.

Finding of Fact 2, 3, 4, and 6 and Conclusions of Law 2-6.

# 4. The Appellant was required to withdraw or disclose his relationship with Mrs. Forsmann to his client Mr. Forsmann.

Rule 102.3 does not require that a conflict exist, only that the appearance of a

conflict exist. Integrity is a fundamental aspect of the profession. AICPA Art. III, .01.

"Integrity requires a member to be, among other things, honest and candid within the constraints

of client confidentiality." Id. at .02 (emphasis added). The same article goes on to state,

"Integrity also requires a member to observe the principles of objectivity and independence and

of due care." Id. at .04.6 Given the importance of integrity and the emphasis on being candid

### <sup>6</sup> Article III—Integrity

To maintain and broaden public confidence, members should perform all professional responsibilities with the highest sense of integrity.

.01 Integrity is an element of character fundamental to professional recognition. It is the quality form which the public trust derives and the benchmark against which a member must ultimately test all decisions.

.02 Integrity requires a member to be, among other things, honest and candid within the constraints of client confidentiality. Service and the public trust should not be subordinated to personal gain and advantage. Integrity can accommodate the inadvertent error and the honest difference of opinion; it cannot accommodate deceit or subordination of principle.

.03 Integrity is measured in terms of what is right and just. In the absence of specific rules, standards, or guidance, or in the face of conflicting opinions, a member should test decisions and deeds by asking: "Am I doing what a person of integrity would do?

and independent as an accountant, the responsibility to properly disclose any conflicts rests with the accountant. These duties cannot be satisfied merely by a third party gaining knowledge through others' efforts as Appellant would argue. Appellant attempts to take a very narrow reading of the Rule and, in effect, by so doing significantly weakens the Rule. Appellant argues that Rule 102.3 is silent on **who** must disclose the relationship and **how** the relationship must be disclosed; when, in actuality, the rule states who must make the disclosure and, further, that the disclosure cannot be a mere discovery of the relationship by happenstance. It is noteworthy that Appellant concedes that a conflict of interest arose out of the relationship that developed between Appellant and Evelyn Forsmann in late May of 2004, before the filing of the 2003 tax return as will be developed more fully later.

More specifically, Rule 102.3 states that when a conflict situation arises out of a relationship with another person and the accountant chooses not to withdraw, such a conflict situation can be avoided only if two things occur: first, the accountant must determine whether he or she can represent the client objectively; and second, **the relationship must be disclosed and consent obtained from the client**. From the unambiguous language of the Rule, the

.04 Integrity also requires a member to observe the principles of objectivity and independence and of due care.

AICPA III, .01, .02, .03, and .04.

Have I retained my integrity?" Integrity requires a member to observe both the form and the spirit of technical and ethical standards; circumvention of those standards constitutes subordination of judgment.

imposition of the duty to disclose the conflict and obtain the consent is clearly on the accountant, considering the following:

1. The Rules are directed to accountants.

2. The accountant must take the first step to determine if he or she can perform his or her services objectively. No one else can make that determination.

3. In the same sentence in which the accountant's determination of objectivity is described, an obligation is imposed that "the relationship is disclosed to *and* consent is obtained from such *client*. (Emphasis added.)

4. Only the accountant has the relationship of client with the person to whom disclosure must be made and consent obtained. Furthermore, the use of the prepositions *to* and *from* indicate not only the source of the information but the receiver of the information.

5. The terms used in the Rule are that the relationship is "disclosed to" the client, not "found out by" the client and consent is "obtained from" not "inferred from" the client's actions.

6. The last sentence of Rule 102.3 states, "*when making the disclosure*, the member should consider Rule 301."<sup>7</sup> (emphasis added). The last line explicitly imposes a duty to actively make the disclosure of the conflict to the client on the accountant as it refers to his or her duty "when making the disclosure." Therefore, contrary to Appellant's position, Rule 102.3 does state **who** needs to disclose the relationship—the accountant.

<sup>7</sup> Rule 301 relates to disclosure of the client's confidential financial information.

7. Finally, the Appellant would have this Court believe that an accountant with a conflict could avoid any mention of the conflict, trust that it would eventually be known and continue to work for a client and then claim consent through acquiescence. This do nothing approach to ethics is exactly what accountancy regulations are trying to avoid in the post-Enron environment. Furthermore, this interpretation would in effect nullify the rule in question. A standard used in interpreting statutes and rules<sup>8</sup> is that the court should give the statute (or rule) a meaning that will not in effect nullify it. *Walker v. Nationwide Fin. Corp. of Idaho*, 629 P.2d 662, 102 Idaho 266, 268 (1981).

# 5. Appellant failed to obtain consent from the Complainant to continue in the representation.

Appellant contends that AICPA 102.3 does not state how consent must be obtained. He further argues that because Complainant signed the return, and filed a tax return prepared by Appellant, that he had received consent for the conflict of interest. He claims that when proper consent is obtained, the consenting party waives its right to object to the conflict. Idaho case law is clear: "a waiver is a *voluntary, intentional* relinquishment of a known right" and "the party asserting the waiver 'must show that he acted in reasonable reliance upon it and that he thereby has altered his position to his detriment." *Fullerton v. Griswold*, 142 Idaho 820, 824, 136 P.3d 291, 295 (2006) (quoting *Margaret H. Wayne Trust v. Lipsky*, 123 Idaho 253, 256, 846 P.2d 904, 907 (1993)) (emphasis added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Administrative regulations are subject to the same principles of statutory construction as statutes. *Mason v. Donnelly Club*, 21 P.3d 903, 135 Idaho 581 (2001).

In this case, Appellant argues that Complainant's signing, filing, and receiving the benefits of the tax return constitute an implied consent to the Appellant's continued representation of him and therefore an implicit waiver of the conflict of interest. However, such actions do not demonstrate that Complainant "voluntarily, intentionally relinquished a known right." Appellant had an affirmative duty under Rule 102.3 to disclose the conflict and then obtain the client's consent to continue in his representation. Part of the disclosure would necessarily require a disclosure of the conflict, and the client's right to take his business elsewhere. The client cannot be expected to know the accountant's rules of ethics or conflicts. Appellant did not discuss with Complainant any conflicting relationship, rather Appellant sat idly by and allowed Complainant to believe that his relationship with his accountant was unchanged at the same time (April-July) that his wife was having a personal relationship with that accountant. Consent requires a knowing act that foregoes a right. This did not occur, therefore consent, either implied or express, was not obtained as required by Rule 102.3.

The Appellant concentrates his arguments regarding disclosure of the conflict on the period of time in August and September 2004. However, the conflict existed long before that and Mr. Duncan acknowledged as much. The following testimony appears on pages 8 and 9 of the transcript:

Hunter:	And why did you suspend the services on April 28, 2004?
Duncan:	Oh I didn't, that was the last work that was done, and somewhere between that time I was notified Evelyn was going to seek a divorce. And I knew that that was a conflict an automatic conflict. I had

a choice at that point to either stop work or to call Randy and say, Oh, by the way, your wife was going to seek a divorce. I didn't believe it was my place to call Randy, so I stopped work.

Hunter: Well there was another choice, wasn't there? You did not have to tell him the source of your conflict. You could have just called him on May 4, after she called you, and said, I'm not going to be your accountant any more. You didn't have to disclose why, did you?

Duncan: No, I did not have to disclose why.

Hunter: But this suspension that you made on this account, you never advised Mr. Forsmannn [sic] that you were suspending work on the account, did you?

Duncan: No we did not.

Hunter: And you didn't call him and tell him there was a conflict.

Duncan: No I did not.

Hunter: But you recognized that there was a conflict as soon as Mrs. Forsmann called you and asked you for advice about [inaudible]?

Duncan: Yes, I did recognize there was a conflict.

When he recognized the conflict Mr. Duncan felt his only alternative was to stop working on the file since he did not want to disclose to Mr. Forsmann that he had been consulted about a divorce lawyer. However, in the hearing he recognized that he could have terminated the relationship without disclosing the reason (which he eventually did on August 13, 2004—*see* Transcript p. 16). He also admits that he did not advise Mr. Forsmann that he was terminating the relationship, nor that there was a conflict that he admits existed.

Appellant's defense is that Mr. Forsmann "knew of the conflict" and, therefore, he did not have to notify him. However, Mr. Forsmann was not self-informed of the conflict in May 2004, since the divorce complaint was not filed until the end of June (*see* Transcript p. 11). By that time Mr. Duncan's relationship had gone beyond merely being asked for a referral, as disclosed in the following testimony from pages 11-12 and 14-15 of the transcript.

Hunter:	Would you please describe your relationship with Evelyn Forsmann from May, when she called you, though [sic] the time that the divorce was filed. And by that I mean, tell me what kind of contacts you had with her and the nature of that contact.
Duncan:	I had contact with her by phone. I had contact with her when she came over to my residence with her children and her friends. All of that contact between would have been basically personal relationship.
	* * *
Hunter:	She called you often, didn't she?
Duncan:	Yes she did.
	* * *
Duncan:	I do not deny that she called me.
Hunter:	And she called you often, at your office.
Duncan:	I don't remember how often she called me at the office.
Hunter:	There are 67 telephone calls to your office during that period of time. And so at least some of those would be to you.
Duncan:	

Hunter:	And there are 510 cell phone calls, calls to your cell phone, during this three-and-a-half month period. Those would be to you. No one else answered your cell phone.
Duncan:	No one else answered my cell phone.
Hunter:	So, 510 cell phone calls in a period of May, June, July and half of August, was approximately 100 days; so that averages out to about five to six telephone calls a day from Mrs. Forsmann. Does that sound about right?
Duncan:	It doesn't sound right, but you have the records.
Hunter:	If that's what the records show then you would agree that—she did call you a lot.
Duncan:	Yes, she did call me a lot.
Hunter:	Now looking at Exhibit 2, please it would appear that the, on August 11 a second extension entry was made by your secretary.
Duncan:	That is correct.
Hunter:	And that's under your supervision?
Duncan:	Yes. She would have brought me a list of August 15 deadlines and said, What are we going to do with these.

To summarize: as of the end of April or early May Mr. Duncan had a conflict of

interest that he recognized existed because Mrs. Forsmann disclosed she was looking for a divorce attorney and asked him for a recommendation. At that time he claims to have "suspended activity on the file," but actually any work necessary to prepare the return and the request for an extension had been completed by that time and he did not disclose the conflict.

A second conflict arose in May and June. He developed a "personal relationship" with Mrs. Forsmann. That second conflict was not disclosed. Mr. Forsmann eventually became aware of that conflict at least by mid-August when the divorce was final on the 11th or when he left a message at the Duncan office on the 18th. On the 13th of August, Duncan told Forsmann that he would no longer be doing his accounting. However, the force of that withdrawal is mitigated by the fact that a second extension was filed on or about August 15 by Solomon & Duncan acting on behalf of their clients, the Forsmanns, and by the fact that they did the couple's taxes in September.

Mr. Duncan could have and should have terminated the client/accountant relationship in May, or in June or July, but he did not. He could have disclosed the conflict and sought a waiver, but he did not. A "suspension of activity" on the file without disclosure to the client is not one of the options of Rule 102.3. That is the gist of the Board's Conclusions of Law Nos. 5 and 6 and it is supported by the Appellant's own testimony. Because the Board relied on the language of the Rule coupled with the evidence presented, the Board's conclusion that Appellant failed to properly obtain consent from his clients is supported by substantial evidence and is neither arbitrary, capricious nor an abuse of discretion.

# 6. Appellant's conduct is expressly defined as a conflict of interest in the comments to AICPA Rule 102.3.

Despite Appellant's posturing that no conflict existed that needed to be disclosed, several examples are set forth in Rule 102.3 indicating situations which could be viewed as

 $\mathbf{20}$ 

impairing a member's objectivity. One example, which the Board also relied upon, states as follows:

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